ROLLING STONE, OCTOBER 10,1974

Fear and Loathing i l‘l Limbo:

The Scum Also

. before I could come to any conclusion ir oc-
curred fo me that my speech or my silence, indeed
any action of mine, would be a mere futility. Whas
did it matter what anyone knew or ignored? What
did Ir matter who was manager? One gets sometimes
such a flask of insight. The essentials of this affair
lay deep under the surface, beyond my reach, and
beyond my power of meddling.

—Joseph Conrad
Heart Of Darkness

Well . . . this is going to be difficult. That sold-out
kmucklehead refugee from a 1969 “Mister Clean™
TV commercial has just done what only the most
cynical and paranoid kind of malcontent ever con-
nected with national politics would have dared to

predict. ...

Hifnﬂqwndmybmurmntmchﬁdnnmr.lwuuld
put this typewriter in the VnI'Vo and dtlﬂ! to Lha
home of the nearest p
huxithepdd-mnmchim:hroulhh-fmmmm

. fiush the bugger out with an act of lunatic vio-

lmthennak him down with mace and run him
nuked down Main Street in Aspen with a bell around
his neck and blsck lumps all over his body from the
jolts of a high-powered “Bull Buster” cattle prod.

But old age has either mellowed me or broken my
Iph'nmzh-poimwhmlwm;ambnblynmdutlnk-
at least not today, becawse that
LhnWhhanmhujunplunpdmlnmadwpmd
vicious hole.

About five hours after I'd sent the final draft of
a massive article on The Demise of Richard Nixon
of on the mojo wire and into the cold maw of the,

press conference in Washington to announce that he
had just granted a “full, free and absoluts” presiden-
tial pardon, covering any and all crimes Richard

Nixon may or may not have committed during the
entire five and a half years of his presidency.

Ford sprung his decision with no advance warning
at 10:40 on a peaceful Sunday morning in Washing-
ton, after emerging from a'church service with such
a powerful desire to dispense mercy that he rushed
back to the White House—a short hump across
Lafayette Park—and summoned a weary Sunday-
morning skeleton crew of correspondents and cam-
eramen to inform them, speaking in curiously zom-
bielike tones, that he could no longer tolerate the
ides of ex-President Nixon suffering in grief-crared

.solitude out there on the beach in San Clemente, and

that his conscience now compelled him to end both
the suffering of Nixon and the national angsr it was

‘causing by means of a presidentizl edict of such king-

dudhmndlhmdswpentnm;eihepohnnuf
from our nati for-

ever.
Or at least that's how it sounded to me, when I was

By Hunter S.Thompson

special treatment. . . . And it also meshed with Ford’s
answer to a question in the course of his confirmation
hearings in the Senate a few months earlier, when
he'd said, “I don't think the public would stand for
it,” when asked if an appointed vice-president would
have the power to pardon the president who'd ap-
pointed him, if the president were rﬂnaved from
office under criminal circumstances.
Im[ladthm:.hinpl:ordhldnid.hutlwnm
s0 sure 1'd heard Dick Tuck correctly—or if I'd really
heard him at all. I held my right hand up in front of
my eyes, trying to remember if I'd eaten anything the

be able to see all the bones and blood vessels very
clearly.

But my hand was not transj
bringing Sandy in from the kitchen to find out what

. was wrong. “Did Tuck just call?" I asked.

She nodded: “He was almost hysterical. Ford just
gave Nixon a full pardon.”

I sat up quickly, groping around on the bed
for something to smash. “No!" I shouted. “That's
impossible!™

She shook her head. *T heard it on the radio, too.”

1 stared at my hands again, feeling anger
my eyes and noise coming up in my throat:
stupid, lying bastard! .lutllwhc for
treacherous ! You can't even trust the
dumb ones! Look at Ford! He's too goddamn stupid
to arrange a deal like that! Hell, he's almost too
stupid to lie."

Smdyshmned. "H-gweNlmndltbellpu.

'Holylhi:l"llupedumofbedmdwunqm:ﬂy

tolhuphm 'aGmdwin‘lnnmberinW-h-
ington? That h fabitch made a
deal? Maybe Dick knows something."
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But it was 24 hours later when 1 finally got hold of
Goodwin, nnd by that time I had made a huge chart

and Ford now seems embarrassed at the memory of
it, but he still defends Becker as “a man of the high-

full of dates, names and personal connecti all
linked and cross-linked by a maze of arrows and
Tines. The three names on the list with far more con-
nections than any others were Laird, Kissinger and
Rockefeller. | had spent all night working feverishly
on the chart, and now I was asking Goodwin to have
u researcher check it all out.

“Well," he replied. “A lot of people in Washington

are thinking nlong those same lines today, No doubt .

there was some kind of arrangement, but—" He
paused, “Aren't we pretty damn close to the dead-
line® Jesus Christ, you'll never be able to check all
that stuff before—"

“Mother of babbling god!” 1 muttered. The word
“deadline” caused my brain to seize up momentarily.
Deadline? Yes, Tomorrow morning, about 15 more
hours. . . . With sbout 30% of my story already set
in type, one of the threads that ran all the way
through it was my belief that nothing short of a
nuclear war could prevent Richard Nixon's convic-
tion. The only thing wrong with that argument was
inu—ipodmmlmcﬁm,mdomal‘lhemmin
pillars was my assumption that Gerald Ford had not
been lying when he'd said more than once, for the
record, that he had no intention of considering a
presidential pardon for Richard Nixon “until the le-
gal process has run its course.”

Cazart! I hung up the phone and tossed my chart
across the room. That rotten, sadistic littlo thief had
done it again. Just one month earlier he had sand-
bagged me by resigning so close to the deadline that
1 almost had a nervous breakdown while failing com-

goddamn presidentinl pardon, leaving mo with less
than 24 hoars to revise completely a 15,000 word
story that was slready set in type.

It was absolutely impossible, no hope at all—ex-
cept fo lash us many last-minute pages as possible
into the mojo and hope for the best. Maybe some-
body in San Francisco would have time, when the
deadline crunch came, to knit the two versions to-
gether. . . . But there was no way at all to be sure,
so this will be an interesting article to read when it
comes off the press. ...

Indeed . . . cast your bread on the waters . . .
why not?

EXXX

1 was brooding on this and cursing Nixon, more
out of habit than logic, for his eerie ability to make
life difficult for me. . . . when it suddenly occurred
to me that the villain this time was not Nixon, but
Gerald Ford. He was the one who decided to pardon
Nixon (for reasons we can hopefully deal with later)
on August 30th, when he instructed his White House
counsel, Philip Buchen, to work out the legal details
and consult with Nixon™s new defense lawyer, John
Miller, one-time campaign side to Robert Kennedy.

Incredibly, Miller informed Buchen that hie would
have 1o make sure a presidential pardon was “accept-
able” to Nixon; and 24 hours later he came back with
word that the ex-president, whose condition had been
publicly described by anonymous “friends" that week
25 almost terminally “disturbed and depressed” at
the prospect of his immi by Jawor-
ski's grand jury—had been able to get a grip on him-
sell long enough to decide that he would not be of-
fended by the offer of a full presidential i
as long as the offer also granted Nixon sole owner-
ship and control of 2/l the White House tapes.

Ford quickly agreed, a concession that could mean
$5 million or more to Nixon: He can milk them for
the bulk of his presidentisl memoirs, for which his
new agent claims already to have been offered a 52
million advance, and after that he has the legal right
cither 1o destroy the tapes or sell them to the highest
bidder,

Arrange ts for the presidential pardon were not
completed until Friday, September 6th—and only
then after President Ford sent his personal emissary,
Benton L. Becker, out to San Clemente to make sure
things went smoothly. Becker, a vnguely sinister
Washington attorney who is currently under investi-
gation by the IRS for alleged tax evasion, describes
himself as an “unpaid legal udviser” to President
Ford and also a personal friend.

They first met in 1969, Becker says, when he vol-
unteered to help then Congressman Ford i his ill-
advised campaign to persuade the House of Repre-
sentntives to impeach U.S. Supreme Court Justice
William 0. Douglas. That effort failed miserably,

esl prafs ethics.

There is some disagreement on this. According to
The Washington Post, “Justice Department sources
said they were sstounded whea they learned that
Becker had been used by the White House to negoti-
ate with the former president. My God, doesn't Ford
know about this case? said one source. ‘The guy's
under investigation.” "

Which is not necessarily a bad sign, in this day and
age. Most of my friends have been “under investiga-
tion™ at one time or another in the past ten years or
30, and my own FBI file dates back at least to 1958,
when T refused to accept u security clearance from
the Air Force, on the grounds that T didn't honestly
consider myself a good security risk because 1 dis-
agreed strongly with the slogan: “My Country, Right
or Wrong.”

My clearance was not granted, but T was never
hassled about it—and instead of being sent to a top-
secret radar installation near the Arctic Circle, [ was
passed over for promotion and placed in a job as
sports editor of a base newspaper on the Gulfl Coast
of Florida.

Ah . . . but we seem to be wandering here. . . . 1
was talking about Benton Becker and his delicate
task of negotiating the details of a full presidential
pudm!nrki:hardﬂimn.whmatnsitmmlwn—
dition was even then being slandered almost daily,
st this stage of the pardon by unnamed [riends and
advisers. A1 this point in the pardon negotiations,
both Ford and Nixon had lesrned that Jawonki's
p'mdluryplmmdmh:dhtha-pﬂduntmn
many as ten counts—an ugly prospect that led Ford
wiulptﬂi.llNilonnﬂ:Mwmpum:mj\n‘l

ive attitude by “volunteering™ to admit at
Jeast some small measure of guilt for his role in the
‘Watergate cover-up, in exchange for the pardon that
would give him total immunity from prosecution
anyway, regardless of what he admitted.

This suggestion almost the negotiations.
Nixon “angrily rejected™ it, says one of Ford’s White
House advisers, and Becker was hard-pressed to keep
the deal on its rails. By Friday evening, however,
Nixon's mood had improved to the point where he
agreed to accept both the and the tapes.
Becker was elated; he flew back to Washington and
reported to Ford that his mission had been 100%
successful. The new president received the news
gratefully, and scheduled a short-notice press confer-
ence on Sunday to lay the fine news on’ his public.

XXXX ¢

Yeah . .. T know: There is something just a littls
bit weird sbout that story, but I don't have any time
to check on it right now. All the detalls, however,
have appeared in one form or another in cither The
Washington Post or The Washington Star-News.

1 cite those sources only because the story makes
po sense at all, on its face. . . . But then none of the
other stories in the New York or Washington papers
on the Monday after the announcement of the Ford/
Nixon treaty made much sense, either . . . primarily
because Sunday is a very hard day to find anybody
in Washington who doesn't want to be found; which
includes just about everybody with good sense except
the kind of man who calls a press conference at
10:30 on Sunday morning and drones out a stone-
faced announcement that he knows will have half the
nation howling with rage before nightfall. . . . But by
nightfall, Ford's version of the pardon was spread all
over the country on the wires, while enraged editors
at the Timey, the Post and the Srar were still trying to

pry their hotrod investigative reporters out of week-

end cabins In the Virginin mountains and beach-
houses on the Maryland shore,

XXXX
1 have very dim memories of Tuck's call. Less

than five hours edriier, 1 had passed out very sud- -

denly in the bathtub, after something like 133
hours of non-stop work on a thing I'd been dragging
around with me for two months and revising in
nnmimtnbmhmdonm!dlypmhminhnﬂh
from Key Biscayne to Laguna Besch, bouncing in
and out of Washington to check the pressure and
mmcﬁmmbk.thmounyhmm
or .. . before heading back to Washington
again, where the pressure valves finally blew all at
once in early August, catching me in a state of hys-
terical exhaustion and screeching helplessly for speed

when Nixon suddenly caved in and quit, ambushing
me on the brink of a deadline and wasted beyond the

TR

helpullnyr.hlngbulthemm:ltrmeklndn!

It takes about a month to recaver physically from
& collapse of that magnitude, and at least a year to
shake the memory. The only thing I can think of that
compares 1o it is that long, long moment of in-
describably intense sadness that comes just before
drowning at sea, those last few seconds on the cusp
when the body is still struggling but the mind has
given up . . . a sense of absolute failure and a very
clear understanding of it that makes the last few sec-
onds before blackout seem almost peaceful. Getting
rescued at that point is far more painful than drown-
ing: Recovery brings back terrifying memories of
struggling wildly for breath, . . .

This is precisely the feeling I had when Tuck woke
me up that morning to say that Ford had just granted
Nixon “full, free and absolute™ pardon. I had just
written a long, sporadically rational brief, of sorts—
explaining how Nixan had backed himsclf into a cor-
ner and why it was inevitable that be would soon be
indicted and convicted on a felony “obstruction of
justice™ charge, and thmFordwu!:krrdanbm
for a lot of reasons 1 couldn't ngres but which
Ford had already stated so firmly that there didn't
seem Lo be much point in arguing about it. The logic
of sentencing Nixon to a year in the same cell with
John Dean was hard to argue with on either legal or
ethical grounds, but I understood politics well enough
by then to realize that Nixon would have to plead
guilty to something like the rape/ murder of a Repub-
lican senator's son before Gerald Ford would even
consider letting him spend any time in jail.

1 had accepted this, more or less. Just as T had
more or less accepted—after
volvement in the struggle to get rid of Nizon—the
idea that Gerald Ford could do just about anything
he felt like doing, as long as he left me alone. My
interest in national politics withered drastically within
hours after Nixon resigned.

After five and a half years of watching a gang of
fascist thugs treating the White House and the whaole
machinery of the federal ent like a con-
quered empire 1o be used like the spoils of war for
any purpose that served either the needs or whims
of the victors, the prospect of some harmless, half-
bright jock like Gerry Ford running a cautious, care-
taker-style government for two oF even six years was
almost o welcome relief. Not even the ominous
sight of Vice President Nelson Rockefeller hovering
a heartbeat away from the presidency had much ef-
fect on my head.

After more than ten years of civil war with the
White House and all the swine who either lived or
wmkdlhera.lmrudym;]vuhtbeneﬂlcfﬁw
doubt to almost any president who acted half human
and had enough sense not to walk around in public
wearing & swastika armband.

XEXXX

Thililmmwl;wwhnt.gme,l'lhink,:hu
Nixon resigned and 1 was faced with the obligation
lnn[lmou[hlpmw[uﬁlynﬂthmu'pmalm
up while chasing Nixon around the country and
watching him sink deeper and deeper in the quick-
sand of his own excrement. In the early stages of the
Deathwatch, there was 2 definite high in watching
the Congress reluctantly gesring up for a titanic bat-
\le with Richard Nixon and his private army of fixers
who had taken over the whole executive branch of
mMmm:mbymelmhnuﬂndmumphmly
into his second term.

By the middle of last summer, the showdown had
become inevitable and when Nixon looked at the
balance sheet in August and saw both the legislative
and judicial branches of the federal government join-
ing forces against him, he knew he was finished.

On:\u;uﬂﬁh.huquhmdmpn:ﬂumwm
ington 12 hours later in & cloud of disgrace. He was
finished:; There was no doubt about it. Even his rank-
inlmﬂmmmunmnznhnmhbmmlyir-
rational state of mind toward the end, and his fare-
well speech 1o the Cabinet and White House staff was
so clearly deranged that even I felt sorry for him. .. .
And when the helicopter whisked him off to exile in
California, an almost visible shudder of relicf swept
mmmeuwdunm%hﬂmhﬂnumhﬂ

) gathered for the sad spectacle of his departure.

Nixon was about 30,000 feet over St. Louis in Air
Force One when his chosen successor, Gerald Ford,
toak the oath, Ford had been sclected, by Nixon, o
replace Spiro Agnew, convicted several months ear-
lier of tax fraud and extortion . . . and Nixon himself,

=12
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d his guilt in a

on's forced resipnation two days earlier. 1 was not
quite sure why I wanted them, but evidence of any
kind is always reassuring to have, and I felt that after
two or three months of sleep I might be able to use
them in some way.

Now, almost exactly four weeks later, that suit-
case full of transcripts is still lying open beside my
desk . . . and now that Gerald Ford has granted
Nixon a presidential pardon so sweeping that he will
never have 1o stand trial for anything, those books of
evidence that would have guaranteed his impeach-
ment if he hadn't resigned are beginning to pique my
interest....

Honky Tonk Tunes
and a Long-

Howling Voice at
the Door

here in Washington and will take up the rest of our
summer. E

One day at a time, Sweet Jesus. .. . That's all 'm
askin' fromyou....

And now the Compton Brothers with a song about
“_ .. when the wine ran out and the jukebox ran out
of tunes ., .”

Jesus, we need more ice and whiskey here, Fill the
bag with water and suck down the drogs, The rain is
still lashing my window, the dawn sky is still black
and this room is damp and cold. Where is the god-
damn heat switch? Why is my bed covered with news-
paper clips and U.S, Government Printing Office evi-
dence books front the MNixon impeachment hearings?

Ah . .. madness, madness. On a day like this, not
even the prospect of Richard Nixon's downfall can
work up the blood. This is stone, flat-out fucking
weather,

On another day like this, 4 long time ago, T was
humming across the bridge out of Louisville, Ken-
tucky, in an old Chevy with three or four good ole
hoys who worked with me at a furniture factory in
Jeffersonville, Indiana. . . . The tires were hissing on
the wet asphalt, the windshield wipers were lashing
‘back and forth in the early morning rain and we were
hunkered down in the car with our lunch bags and
moaning along with 2 mean country tune on the
radio when somebody said:

*“Jesus Christ: Why are we going to work on a day
like this? We must be goddamn crazy. This is the kind
of day when you want to be*belly-to-belly with a
good woman, in a warm bed under a tin roof with

-the rain beating down and a bottle of good whiskey
right next to the bed.”

American politics will never be the same again.

—Senator George McGovern

Acceptance Speech

July 13th, 1972

Mismi, Florida
Another hot, heavy rain in Washington, at 4:33 ona
wet Wednesday morning, falling like balls of sweat
agninst my window, . .. Twelve feet wide and six feet
tall, the high yellow eye of the National Affairs Suite
loaking out across the rotting roofs of our nation's
capital at Jeast a mile away through the haze and the
rain to the fine white marble spire of the Washington
Mornument and the dark dome of the Capitol. . . .
Hillbilly music howling out of the radio across the
room from the typewriler.

. .. And when it's midnight in Dallas, I'll be some-
where on a big jet plane. . . . 1f 1 could only under-
stand you, maybe | could cope with the loneliness 1
Jeel ...

Honky-tonk tunes and & quart of Wild Turkey on
the sideboard, ripped to the tits on whatever it was in
that bag I bought tonight from the bull fruit in
Georgetown, looking down from the desk at yester-
day's huge Washingron Post headline:

FRESIDENT ADMITS WITHHOLDING DATA
TAPES SHOW HE APPROVED COVER-UP

Every hali-hour on the hall-hour, WXRA — the
truckers' station over in Alexandria — keeps bab-
bling more and more hideous news of “rapidly dis-
solving™ support in the House and the Senate. All ten

Let me be there in your mornin', let ma be there in
your night. . . . Let me be there when you needme . ...
‘and make it right.

Ah, this haunting, honky music. . . . I am running
a serious out-of-control fever for that long-remem-
bered dream of o tin-roof, hard-rain, belly-to-belly
day with a big iron bolt on the door and locked away
in a decp warm bed from every connection to the
outside world except a $14.95 tin radio wailing tunes
like “I Smell a Rat” and “The Wild Side of Life.”

‘This is not your ideal flying weather. Both National
and Dulles airports are “closed for the rest of the
morning,” they say. . . . But despite all that I find my-
self on the phone demanding plane reservations back
to Colorado. Fuck the weather . . .

Whoever answered the phone at United Airlines
said the westher was “expected to be clear” by early
afternoan and there were plenty of seats open for the
4:40 flight to Denver.

“Wonderful,” I said, “but I want & fimt-class seat
in the smokers’ section.”

“I'l check,” she said, and moments later she was

back with bad nmews: “The smoking seats are all
taken, sir, but if it makes no difference to you—"

“It does," I said. “1 must smoke. I insist on it.”

She checked again and this time the news was bet-
ter: I think we can open a smoking seat for you, sir.
Could I have your name?"

“Nader,"” I said, “R. Nader."

“How do you spell that?" :

I spelled it for her, then set my alarm for two and
fell asleep on the couch, still wearing my wet swim-
ming trunks. After two months on the Nixon Im-

members of the House Judiciary C who

Trail, my nérves were worn raw from the

voted against the anticles of impeach on 1
TV last week have now reversed themselves, for the
record, and said they plan to vote for impeachment
when — or if — it comes to a vote in the House on
August 19th, Even Barry Galdwater has leaked (and
then denied) a UPI report that he thinks Nixon
should resign, for the good of the country . . . and
also for the good of Goldwater and everybody else in
the Republican party, such as it is.

Indeed. The rats are deserting the ship at high

y_unlw—-huglh_ithepmidl's Lith-hour ad-
mission of plicity in the cover-up
“sorrowful news.”

We will not have Richard Nixon to kick around

haggling and fr hostility of all thase
useless; early morning White House press briefings
and long, sweaty afternoons pacing simlessly around
the corridors of the Rayburn Office Building on Cap-
itol Hill, waiting for crumbs of wisdom from any two
ar thres of those 38 luckless congressmen on the
House Judiciary Committee hearing evidence on the
_possible impeachment of Richard Nixon.

It was an eerie sp le: The whole Nixonian em-
pire — seemingly invincible less than two years ago
— was falling apart of its own foul weight right in
front of our eyes. There was no denying the vast and
historic proportions of the story, but covering it on
a day-to-day basis was such a dull and degrading ex-
perience that it was hard to keep a focus on what was
Teally happening. 11 was essentially s lawyer's story,
not a journalist’s.

. XXXX

1 never made that plane, Sometime around noon
1 was jolted awake by a pounding on my door and
a voice shouting, "Wake up, goddamnit, the whole
town's gone crazy—the sonofabitch has caved in—
he's quitting.”

*No!" I thought. *Not now! I'm too weak to handle
it.” These goddamn rumors had kept me racing fran-
tically around Washington day and night for almost
a week—and when the shitrain finally began, | wus
helpless. My eyes were swollen shut with chlorine
poisoning and when | tried to get out of bed to open
the door, | almost snapped both ankles. | had fallen
asleep wearing rubber-soled basketball shoes, which
had wedged themselves between the sheets at the
foot of the bed so firmly that my first thought was
that somebody had strapped me down on the bed.

The howling voice at my door was Craig Vetter,
another ROLLING STONE writer who had been in town
for two weeks trying to make some kind of connec-
tion with Nixon's priest. ., . . But the priest was fin-
ished now and the town was going wild, A Washing-
ton Post reporter said he had never seen the news-
room so frantic—not even when John Kennedy was
murdered or during the Cuban missile crisis. The pre-
vailing rumors an Capitol Hill had Nixon either ad-
dressing a joint session of Congress at 4:30 that after-
noon or preparing a final statement for delivery at
7:00 on all three networks . . . but 2 call to the White
House pressroom spiked both these rumors, al-
though the place was filling up with reporters wha'd
picked up an entirely different rumor: That either
Ziegler or Nixon himself would soon appear in the
pressroom to make a statement of some kind.

Six more calls from the MNational Affairs Suite
churned up at least six more impossible rumors.
Every switchboard in town that had any connection
with either journalism or politics was jammed and
useless. Later that night, even the main White House
switchboard jammed up for the first time most re-
porters could remember, and for the next two days
almost everybody who worked in the White House—
even private secretaries —kept their home phones
off the hook because of the chaos.

It was about 1:30 on Wednesday afternoon when
I got through to Marty Nolan in the White House
pressroom. We compared rumors and killed both
lists very quickly. “This is all crazy bullshit,” said
Nolan, “We're just being jerked around. He's not
going to do anything serious today, but just on the
chance that be might, 1 don't dare leave this god-
damn dungeon.”

I had been on the verge of going down there, but
after arranging with Nolan and about six other peo-
ple in strategic positions in different parts of town to
call me instantly if anything started to happen, | de-
cided that the best thing to do was to take both the
TV set and the FM radio down to  table by the pool
and have all my calls transferred down to the life-
guard’s telephone. . .~ Which turned out to be the
best of all possible solutions: Vetter and 1 set up a
totally efficient communications post beside the pool,
and for the next 48 hours we were able to monitor
the whole craziness from our table beside the pool.

Reaches San

c -n llzieg“
B;l; the News

General

l Haig and
the Ba%of_ Dimes....
The Sﬁ. ariticPriest

and the Mentally-
Retarded Rabbi...
More Talk of
the ‘Suicide Option’

Well . . . the goddamn thing is over now; it ended
on Thursday afternoon with all the grace and mean-
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ing of a Coke bottle thrown off a third-floor fire es-
cape on the Bowery—exploding on the sidewalk and
scaring the shit out of everybody in range, from the
ones who got righteously ripped full of glass splinters
to the swarm of “innocent bystanders™ who still don't
know what happened. . , .

.+ . .And probably never will; there is a weird, un-
settled, painfully incomplete quality about the whole
thing. All over Washington tonight is the stench of a
muassive psychic battle that nobody really won. Rich-
ard Nixon has been broken, whipped and castrated
all st once, but even for me there is no real crank or
elation in having been a front-row spectator at the
final scenes, the Deathwatch, the first time in Amer-
ican history that a president has been chased out of
the White House and cast down in the ditch with all
the other geeks and common criminals. . . .

Looking back on the final few months of his presi-
dency, it is easy I see that Nixon was doomed all
along—or st least from that moment when Archibald
Con first decided to force a showdown on the “execu-
tive privilege™ question by sending a U.5. marshal
over to the White House with a subpoena for some
of the Oval Office tapes.

Nixon naturally defied that subpoena, but not even
the crazed firing of Cox, Richardson and Ruckels-
hous could make it go away. And when Jaworski
challenged Nixon's right to defy that subpoena in
the U8 Supreme Court, the wheels of doom began
rolling. And from that point on, it was clear to all
the principals except Nixon himself that the Un-
thinkable was suddenly Inevitable; it was only a
matter of time. . . . And it was just about then that
Richard Nixon began losing his grip on reality.

Within hours after Jaworski and Nixon's “Water-
gate lawyer™ James St. Clair had argued the case in a
special session of the Court, I talked to Pat Buchanan
and was surprised to hear that Nixon and his wizards
in the White House were confident thal the verdict
would be 5-3 in their favor, Even Buchanan, who
thinks rationally about 79% of the time, apparently
believed—Iless than two weeks before the Court ruled
unnnimously egainsr Nixon—that five of the eight
justices who would have to rule on that question

would see no legal objection to ratifying Nixon's
demented jdea that anything discussed in the presi-
dent's official office—even a patently criminal con-
spiracy—was the president’s personal property, if he
chose to have it recorded on his personal tape-record-
ing machinery.

The possibility that even some of the justices The
Hoss himself had appointed to the Court might not
cheerfully endorse a concept of presidential immun-
ity that mocked both the U.S. Constitution and the
Magna Carta had apparently been considered for a
moment and then written off as too farfetched and
crazy even to worry about by all of Nixon's personal
strategists.

It is still a little difficult to believe, in fact, that
some of the closest advisers to the president of a con-
stitutional democracy in the year nineteen hundred
and seventy-four might actually expect the highest
court in any constitutional democracy to crank up
what Is probably the most discredited precedent in
the history of Anglo-American jurisprudence—the
“divine right of kings"—in order to legalize the no-
tion that a president of the United States or any other
would-be democracy is above and beyond “the law.”

That Nixon and his personal Gestapo actually be-
lieved this could happen is 8 measure of the insanity

3 of the people Nixon took down in the
bupker with him when he knew the time had come
ta get serious.

XXXX

But even as they raved, you could hear a hollow
kind of paranoid uncertainty in their voices, as if they
could already feel the bb tide sucking around their
ankles — just as Nixon must have felt it when he
walked alone on the beach at San Clemente a few
weeks earlier, trudging slowly along in the surf with
his pantlegs rolled up while he waited in angry soli-
tude for the results of the Supreme Court vole on his
claim of “executive privilege.” That rush of sucking
water around his ankles must have almost pulled him
out to sea when Ziegler called down from the big
dune in front of La Casa Pacifica: “Mister President!
Mister President! We just got the news! The vote was
unanimous — eight to zero.”

Nixon whoops with delight: He stops in his water-
filled tracks and hurls out both arms in the twin-vic-
tory sign. "Wonderfull" he shouts. “T knew we'd win
it, Ron! Even without that clown Renchburg. It
wasn't for nothing that I appointed those other dumb
farts to the Court!”

Ziegler stares down at him, at this doomed scare-
crow of a president down there on the edge of the
surf. Why is he grinning? Why does he seem so happy
at this terrible news?

“No!" Ziegler shouts, “That is not what I meant.
That is not what 1 meant at alll” He hesitates, chok-
ing back a sob. “The vote was eight to zero, Mister
President — against yon."

“What?" The scarecrow on the.beach goes limp.
His arms collapse, his hands flap crazily around the
pockets of his wet pants. “Those dirty bastards!” he
screams. “We'll break their balls!”

“Yea sir!™ Ziegler shouts, “Theyll wish they'd
never been born!" He jerks a notebook out of his in-
side coat pocket and jots: “Break their balls.”

By this time the wet president is climbing the dune
in front of him. *What happened?” Nixon snarls.
“Did somebody get to Burger?"

Ziegler nods. “What else? Probably it was Edward
Bennett Williams,"
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“0Of course,” says Nixon. “We should never have
left thut dumb sonofabitch back there in Washington
by himself. We know he'll do business: That's why
we put him there.” He kicks savagely at a lone ice
plant in the sand. “Goddamnit] Where was Colson?
Burger was his sssignment, right?"

Ziegler winces, “Colson's in jail, sir. Don't you
remember?”

Nixon stares blankly, then récovers. “Colson? In
jail? What did he do?" He picks up a kelp head and
lashes it against his shin. “Never mind, [ remember
now — but what about Ehrlichman? He can jerk
Burger and those other clowns around like a god-
damn Punch and Judy show!”

Ziegler stares out to sea for o moment, his eyes
cloud over. “Well, sir . . . John's not much good to us
anymore. He's going to prison.”

Nixon stiffens, dropping the kelp head in the sand.
“Holy shit, Ron! Why should John go to prison? He's
one of the finest public servants I've ever had the
privilege of knowing!"

Ziegler is weeping openly now, his emaciated body
is wracked by deep sobs. “I don't know, sir. T can't
explain it." He stares oul to sea again, fighting to gain
control of himself, “These are terrible times, Mister
President. Our enemies are closing in. While you
were out there on the beach, the Avis agency in
Laguna called and canceled our credit. They took my
car, Mister President! My gold Cadillac convertible!
T was on the phone with Buzhardt — about the Su-
preme Court business, you know — when I Jooked
out the window and saw this little nigger in an Avis
uniform driving my car out the gate. The guards said
he had a writ of seizure, signed by the local sheriff.”

“My God!" Nixon exclaims. “We'll break his ba.lls'
Where's 2 :elephonﬂ" 11l call Haldeman.™® -

“It's no use, sir,” Ziegler replies. “We can't make
any oulgoing calls until we pay the phone company
$33,000. They sent & man down 1o fix the lines so we
can only take incoming calls — for the next 86 hours,
and then we'll e cut off entirely, If you want to call
Washington, we'll have to walk to the San Clements
Inn and use a pay phone. | think General Haig has a
bag of dimes in his room."”

Nixon stiffens again; his brain is mired in desp
thought. Then his eyes light up and he grabs Ziegler
by the arm, dragging him toward the house, “Come
on, Ron,™ he anaps, “I have an idea.™

Ziegler stumbles along behind the president: He

feels the energy flowing into him—The Boss is on *

the move.

Nixon is talking as he runs: *T think I've isolated
our problem, Ron. We need credit, n;hn? oK,
where's that Jew?"

“Jew?"

*“You know who I mean, goddamnit—that rabbi.
They can always get credit, can't they? A rabbi?
We'll send some of the Secret Service boys up there
to Laguna to round him up. He's probably in the bar
up there on top of the Surf and Sand; that's where
he hangs out.” Nixon laughs wildly now, “Shit, no-
body questions a rabbi's credit! You tell the S8 boys
to pick him up and throw a real scare into him, then
bring him down here and Il srroke him."

Now Ziegler Is laughing. His eyes are bright and he
is writing fast in his notebook. “It's a wonderful idea,
sir, just wonderfull First we stonewall the bastards,
then we outflank them with a Jew!"

Nixon nods happily, “They Tl never know what hit
‘em, Ron. You know what ['ve always said: "When
the going gets tough, the tough get going.' "

*Ihat's right, sir, | remember when Coach Lom-

ardi—»

Nixon cuts him off with a sudden clap of his wet
hands; the sound causes two Secret Service agents in
the nearby shrubbery to go for their guns. “Hold on,
Ron! Just hold it right therel You know who taught
Conch Lombardi everything he knew?" He smiles
deeply. “Me! The Presidemt!™

Ziegler wrings his hands, his eyeballs bulgs, his
fnce is twisted with reverence. “1 remember that, sir
—I remember!™

“Gaod, Ron, good! Only losers forget. . . . And
you know what Coach Lombardi said about rhar,”

Nixon seizes his press secretary by both elbows and.

comes up close o his face: His breath is foul, his
eyeballs are bloodshot, his pupils are dangerously di-
lated, his words come in short, high-pilched barks
like a rubid hyena: “You show me a good loser, Ron
—and I'll show you a laser."

Ziegler is overwhelmed: His eyes ure so wide that
he can't even blink; his body is rigid but his soul is

on fire. His face is 2 mask of pure zeal: Ron Ziegler
—left-hand man to & doomed and criminal president,
the political flip side of every burned-out acid freak
wha voted for Goldwater and thea switched to Tim
Leary until the pain got too bad and the divine light
of either.Jesus or Maharaj Ji lured him off in the
wake of another Perfect Master.
XXXX

Ah, poor Ron. T knew him well enough. Tt was
Ziegler, in fact, who !lpped me off many months ago
that Nixon was finished. This was back in July, in
that lull before the storm when the wizards in Wash-
ington were beginning to nod glumly nt esch other
whenever somebody suggested that the impeachment
drive seemed to be faitering and that maybe Nixon
was bottoming out, that in fact he had already
bounced off the bottom and was preparing to take
the offensive once again.

These were meuhdduylofm}ynuumu. befare
the fateful Supreme Court decision, when Nixon's
Goebbels—ex-White House “communications direc-
tor” Ken Clawson—was u false dawn over
the White House by momentarily halting Nixon's
year-long slide in the public opinion polls with a daily
drumbeat of heavy, headline-grabbing attacks on
“professional Nixon-haters" in the press, and “un-
principled, knee-jerk liberals in Congress.™ At that

point in time, most of Nixon's traditiona) allies were -

beginning to hear the death shricks of the banshee
fioating over the White House lawns at night, and
even Billy Graham had deserted him. So Clawson, in
a stroke of cheap genius, put & sybaritic Jesuit priest
and & mentally retarded rabbi on the payroll and sent
them forth to do battle with the forces of Evil.

Father John McLaughlin, the Jesuit, wallowed
jovfully in his role as “Nixon's priest” for & month or
50, but his star faded fast when it was learned he was
pulling down more than $25,000 a year for his efforts
and living in & luxury apartment at the Watergate,
His superiors in the church were horrified, but
MeLaughlin gave them the back of his hand and, in-
stead, merely ked up his hmaking act. In
the end, however, not even mwmowldunwhh
the insistent rumor that the Good Jesuit Father was
plenning to marry his girlfriend, This was too much,
they say, for the rigid sensibilities of General Haig,
the White House chief of staff, whose brother was a
Iegitimate priest in Baltimore. McLaughlin disap-
peared very suddenly, after six giddy weeks on the
national stage, and nothing has been heard of
‘him since.

But Clawson was ready for that No sooner had
the priest been deep-sixed than he unveiled another
holy man—the Rabbi Baruch Korff, a genuine ding-
bat with barely enough sense to tie his own shoes,
but who eagerly lent his name and his flaky presence
to anything Clawson aimed him at. Under the banner
of something called the “National Citizens* Commit-
tee for Fairness to the President,” he “organized” ral-
lies, dinner parties and press conferences all over the
country. One of his main financial backers was Ham-
iiton Fish Sr., a notorious fascist and the father of
New York Congressman Hamilton Fish JIr., one of
the Republican swing votes on the House Judiciary
Committee who quictly voted for impeachment.

xxxx

Only a month ago, the storms of destiny seemed to
be subsiding for President Nixon. Among the Knowl-
edgeable in Washington, the conviction was growing
that the impeachment campaign against him had
spent its moment. . . . [Bui] it ix mow clear that the
Knowledgeable were wrong, that rthey mistook a
break in the clouds for lasting sunshine. . . .

—R.W. Apple Ir.

The New York Times .

July 28th, 1974

In fact, however, Nixon was already doomed by
the time the Rodine committee got around to voting.
The unanimaus Supreme Court vote on the question
of “executive privilege” with regard to the 64 dis-
puted tapes was the beginning of the end. Nixon had
known ull along that the release of those tapes would
finish him—but he had consistently lied about their
contents: not only to the press and the public, but
also to his wife and his daughters and all the hard-
core loyalists on his staff. He lied about the%apes to
Barry Goldwater and Gerry Ford, 1o Hugh Scott
and John Rhodes, to Al Haig and Pat Buchanan and
even to his own attorney, James St. Clair—who was
stupid enough, like the others, to have believed him
when he swore that the tapes he refused to let any-
body listen to would finally prove his innocence,

Both of his lawyers, in fact, had done everything in
their power to avoid hearing the goddamn things. It
finally required a direct ardm' from Judge Sirica, on

within hours after hearing the fatal conversation with
Haldeman of June 23rd, 1972, he was rushed to the
intensive care ward of a private hospital in Virginia
with a serious “heart nttack™ that rendered him in-
communicado for almost two months.

I was sitting in a bar called the Class Reunion,
about two blocks from the White House, when I
heard the tragic news. . . . And I recall saying to Bor-
1on Globe correspondent Marty Nolan: “We'll never
see Buzhardt again. They can't afford to let him live.
1f he survives whatever Ziegler put in his coffee when
he was listening to those tapes, Haldeman will go out
there and stick a hatpin up his nose while he's wasted
on Demerol, jam it straight into his brain when the
nurse gets out of the room. Take my word for it,
Marty, I know how these people operate. Buzhardt
will never leave that hospital alive.”

Nolan nodded, oblivious to Buzhardt's grim fate.
Al that point, aimost every journalist in Washington
assigned to the Nixon Deathwatch had been averag-
ing about two hours sleep a night since the beginning
of summer. Many were weak and confused, suc-
cumbing to drink or drogs whenever possible, Others
seemed to hover from day to day on the brink of

prospect of having to cover an impeachment debate
in the House and then a trial in the Senate for three
or four months without relief was almost unbearable,
As August began and Nixon still showed no signs of
giving up, there was more and more talk of “the sui-
cide option.”

LA L]

Cold Turkey Swoop
e s

Down & I!anic for
Watergate Junkies

Sometime around dawn on the Frid.ly morning of
Richard Milhous Nixon's last breakfast in the White
House [ put on my swimming trunks and a red rain .
parka, laced my head with some gray Argentine
anuff, and took an elevator down to the big pool be-
low my window in the National Affairs Suite al the
‘Washington Hilton. It was still raining, so [ carried
my paortable TV set, a notebook and four bottles of
Bass Ale in a waterproof canvas bag.

Tha lower lobby was empty, except for the night

meaty black gentleman whose main
dulywulnkuppenplelilemewnflhtpmlﬂ
night, but we had long since come to a friendly un-
derstanding on this subject. It was against the rules
1o swim when the pool was closed but there wus no
rule to prevent a Doctor of Divinity from going out
there to meditate on the end of the diving board.

“Mornin', Doc,” said the watchman, “Up a little
early, ain’t you? Especially on a nasty day like this,"

“Nasty?” [ replied. “"What are you—some kind of
goddamn Uncle Tom Republican? Don't you know
who's leaving town loday?

He looked puzzled for » moment, then his face
cracked into a grin. “You're right, by god! 1 almost
forgot. We finally got rid of that man, didn't we,
Doc?" He nodded happily. “Yes sir, we finally got
rid of him.”

1 reached into my bag and opened two Bass Ales.
“This is a time for celebration,” I said, handing him
one of the bottles. I held mine out in front of me:
“To Richard Nixon," 1 said, "may he choke on the
money he stole.”
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except for u few kinky interviews

The h glanced y over his
befare lifting his ale for the toast, The clink of the
two bottles coming together echoed briefly in the
vast, deserted lobby,

“Ses you later,” 1 said. “I have to meditate for
a while, then hustle down to the White House to
make sure he really leaves. I won't believe it until
I see it with my own eyes."

The flat surface of the pool was pocked with mil-

the edge of the pool and check the screen to see if
Hughes Rudd's face had sppeared yet. When it did,
T would climb out of the water and lie down on the
grass in front of the set—tum up the sound, light

a fresh Bass Ale and take notes
while I watched the tiny screen for a general oat-
line of whatever action Sam Ervin's Roman -circus
-might be expected to generale that day.

1 stayed out there by the pool for almost two
hours, sliding in and out of the water to run a few
laps and then back out to stretch out on the grass to
make a note now and then on the news, Not much

was happeni

down by the White House gate with people who
tlaimed to have been on the Deathwatch for three
days and nights without sleeping, . . . But very few
of them could even begin 1o explain why they were
doing it. Al least half the crowd around the White
House during those last few days looked like people
who spend every weekend prowling the Demolition
Derby circuit.

The only other action on the news that Friday
morning was an occasional rerun of Nixon's official
resignation speech from the night before. 1 had
watched it with Velter in the Watergate bar. It
seemed like a good place to be on that night, because
1 had also been there on the night of June 17th, 1972
—while the Watergate burglary was huppening five
fioors above my head.

But after 1'd watched Nixon's speech for the third
time, a strange feeling of nervousness began working
on me and [ decided to get out of town a3 soon as
passible. The movie was over—or at least it would
be over in two or three hours. Nixon was leaving at
10:00, and Ford would be sworn in at noon. | wanted
ta be there on the White House lawn when Nixon
was lifted off. That would be the end of my movie.

It was still raining when I left and the pool was
still empty. ! put the TV set back in the canvas bag
and climbed over the gate by the lifeguard shack
Then | stopped and looked back for a moment,
knowing | would never come back to this place, and
if 1.did it would not be the same. The pool would be

the same, and it would be easy enough to pick up a
case of Bass Ale or a battery TV set. . . . And | could
even come down here on rainy summer mornings and
watch the morning news. . . . -

But there would not be this kind of morning any-
more, because the main ingredient for that mix was
no longer available in Washington; and if you asked
any of the peaple who were known (o have a real
taste for it, the hard-core Nixon aficionados, they all
understood that it would not be available again
for a hell of 2 long time and probably never,

Nobody even talks about substitutes or something
almost exactly the same. The mold disappeared about
three minutes after they made that evil bastard . . .
and although there was never any doubt about who
stole it, nobody had any proof.

No . .. even with the pool and the ale and grass
and the portable TV set, the morning news will not
be the same without the foul specter of Richard
Nixon glaring out of the tube. But the war is over
now and he lost. . , . Gone but not forgotten, missed
but not mourned; we will not see another one like
him for quite a while. He was dishonest to & fault,
the truth was not in him, and if it can be sald that
he resembied any other living animal in this world,
it could only have been the hyena.

XKXX H

1400k a cab down to the White House and pushed
through the sullen mob on the sidewalk to the guard-
house window. The cop inside glanced at my card,
then looked up — fixing me with a heavy-lidded
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Qusalude stare for just an instant, then nodded and
pushed his buzzer to open the gate. The pressroom
in the West Wing was empty, so 1 walked outside to
the Rose Garden, where a big olive-drab helicopter
was perched on the lawn, about 100 feet out from
the stairs, The rain had stopped and a long red car-
pet was laid out on the wet grass from the White
House door to the helicopter. 1 eased through the
crowd of photographers and walked out, looking

back at the White House, where Nixon was giving .

his final address to a shocked crowd of White House
staffers. 1 examined the aircraft very closely, and I
was just about to climb Into it when 1 beard a loud
rumbling behind me; 1 turned around just in time
to see Richard and Pat coming toward me, trailing
their daughters and followed closely by Gerald Ford
and Betty, Their faces were'grim and they were walk-
ing very slowly; Nixon had a glazed smile on his
face, not loaking at anybody around him.and walked
like @ wooden Indian full of Thorazine.

His face was a greasy death mask. 1 stepped back
out of his way and nodded hello but he didn't seem
to recognize me. 1 lit & cigarette and watched him
climb the steps to the door of the helicopter. . . .
Then he spun around very suddenly and threw his
srms straight up in the famous twin-victory signal;
his eyes were still glazed, but he seemed 1o be look-
ing over the heads of the crowd at the White House.

Nobody wes tlking. A swarm of photographers
rushed the plane as Nixon raised his arms—but his
body had spun around too fast for his feet, mduh'n

Deatl h for two y
orgasm of long-awaited
imun!]ytoamll.pw-counlmotd:psudnuthu

still endures.

Whhlnhmnltmﬂi:m‘ldupmmbuin
normally f by re-
m!mldnkhllnldm Several hours after
Gerald Ford was sworn in, I found ex-Kennedy
speechwriter Dick Goodwin in & bar not far from
the RoLLiNG SToxE office across the street from the
‘White House, He was slumped ih & booth by him-
self, staring blankly into his drink like 8 man who
had just had his teeth ripped out by a savage bill

collector.

“1 feel totally drained,” he said. “It's like the cir-
the- longest

,cijlefttm]‘hnimaend

watch was finally over; the evil demon had been
purged and the Good Guys had won—or at least
ﬂmmﬂunmmmmnwmguiwme

arms went up | saw him losing his bal

grimace on his face went slack, then he bounced oﬂ'
the door nnd stumbled into the cockpit, Pai and
Ziegler were already inside; Ed Cox and Tricia went
in quickly without looking back, and a Marine in
dress blues shut the door and jumped away as the big
rolor blades began turning and the engine cranked
up to a dull, whining roar.

I was so close that the noise hurt my ears. The ro-
tor blades were invisible now, bul the wind was gel-
ting heavier; I could feel it pressing my eyeballs back
into their sockets. For an instant [ thought T could
see Richard Nixon's face pressed up to the window,
Was he smiling? Was it Nixon? I couldnt be sure,
And now it made no difference,

The wind biast from the rotors was blowing people
off-balance now; photographers were clutching their
equipment against their bodies and Gerald Ford was
leading his wife back toward the White House with
a stony scowl on his face.

1 was still very close to the helicopter, watching
the tires. Mlhebemhcgmrha;m:hmhecamc
suddenly fat; there was no more weight on them. .
The helicopfer went straight up and hovered fnr 2
moment, then swooped down toward the Washington
Monument and then angled up into the fog. Richard
Nixon was gone.

XXX

The end came so suddenly and with so little warmn-
ing that it was almost as if & muffled explosion in the
White House had sent up a mushroom cloud to an-
nounce that the scumbag had been passed to what

o

will huve to pose for now as another generation.
The main reaction to Richard Nixon's passing—es-
pecially among journalists who had been on the

ot

Well.lkncwilwuamﬂ.ng——tbuptm.ﬂwCon-
gmlhe"pubﬁc.' handlers in

steps & hundred yards in front of me) and wonder-
ing, “What in the fuck am I doing here? What kind
of sick and twisted life have I fallen into that would
cause me to spend some of the best hours of my
ll(nlnl:rypllitcmmmﬂdummbulim
and fearful politi g the guilt or i

of Richard Milhous Nixon?"

The Politician and
the Pawnbroker....
The New York Times
Hits the Trenches,
The Washington

Post ns a Multi-
Proopgd Panzer
ensive....
Lessons of a Crime
Spreein

l.exington....
Compound Tangent
Mushrooms
Dangerously

Innocence? It is difficult even 1o type that word on
the same page with Nixon's name. The man was born
—not in the traditional Vatican sense of “orig-
inal sin,” but in a darker and highly personalized
sense that Nixon himself seems to have recognized
from the very beginning.

Nixon's entire political career—and in fact his
whdahfo—sndnomymummmmwmw
not even
mpmm-dnarmmndluar!mmmmgmmﬁnp
of the heap in this strange society we have built for
ourselves m the name of “democracy” and “free en-
terprise.” For most of his life, the mainspring of
RnbudNixmlmmndambiimmvae

been a deep and d need to ov
lncm.lhnmufhlvmgbembamwmy—mz
for crimes or already d, but

for those he somehow sensed he was fated to commit
as he grappled his way to the summit. If Nixon had
been born Jewish, instead of Black Irish, he would

his balloon suddenly burst on that fateful Mond.ly
in August, it happened so fast that none of us were
ready to deal with it. The Nixon presidency never
really had time to crumble, except in hazy retro-
spect. . . . In reality, it disintegrated, with all the

chances of conviction in the Senate “just about
even.” This prognosis held for about 72 hours,
which was time enough for almost everybody in

tension, of debate in the House, delay in the courts
and finally a trial in the Senate that might drag on
until Christmas.

It was an ugly prospect, even for those of us who
openly welcomed the prospect of seeing Richard
Nizan in the dock, On the last afternoon of the Ju-
diciary hearings, I found myself leaning against a
tree on the grass of the U.S. Capitol lawn, hope-
lessly stoned, staring up at the huge golden dome
(while loud koots of tourists wearing Bermuda
shorts and Instamatic cameras climbed the marble

ly have been a pawnbroker instead of a poli-
Mln.mnnlybmmtqubuxhofLmAnula
would never have elected a Jewish congressman in
1946, but because running a big-league

would have fueled him with the same kind of guilt-
driven energy that most of our politicians—from the
county assessor level all the way up to the White
House—seem to thrive on.

On any given morning, both the politician and the
pawnbroker can be sure that by sundown the in-
escapable realities of their calling will have forced
them (¢ do something they would rather not have to
explain, not even to themselves, The details might
vary, but the base linc never changes: "I will feel
maore guilty tomorrow than I feel today, just as I feel
more guilty today than I felt yesterday. . . . But of
course | have no choice: They have mads me what
Iam and by god, they'll pay for it."

So the cyele runs on. Both the politician and the
pawnbroker are doomed to live like junkies, hooked
on the mutant energy of their own unexplainable
addictions,

In this baleful sense, Richard Nixon is definitely
“one of us"—as New York Times columnist Tom
Wicker wrote, in a very different context, back in
the early Sixties. The phrase was Conrad's, from
Lord Jim: “He was one of us, . ," —and when I read
Wicker’s piece more than a decade ago I remember
feeling angry that The New York Times had the
power 10 hire another one of these goddamn gothic
Southern sots and turn him loose to stumble around
Washington and spew out this kind of builshit.

Anybody stupid enough to identify with Richard
Nixon the same way Conrad's Marlow identified with
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Lord Jim was beyond either help or any hope of
credibility, I felt, and for the next seven or eight years
1 dismissed everything Wicker wrote as the mum-
hiings of a hired fool. . . . And when Wicker's point
of view began swinging vury notjceably in the direc-
tion of my own, in the Iste 1960s, 1 was almost as
disturbed—for entirely different reasons—as the
Times editors in New York who also noticed the
drift and swiftly deposed him from his heir-apparent
role to James Reston as the new chief of the paper's
‘Washington bureau,

The masthesd of The New York Times's Washing-
ton Bureau is a reliable weathervane for professional
observers of the changing political climate. Control
of the bureau is usually in the hands of somebody
the mugnates in New Yorik believe is more or less on
the same wavelength as the men in control of the
povernment. Arthur Krock, for instance, got along
fine with Eisenhower, but he couldn't handle the
Kennedys and was replaced by Reston, a JFK parti-
san In 1960 and a “Roosevelt coalition” neopopulist
who also got along well with Lyndon Johnson. But
when Johnson quit in 1968 and the future looked
very uncertain, Reston was promoted to a manage-
ment job in New York and was succeeded by Wicker
at about the same time Robert Kennedy was decid-
ing to make his move for the presidency; but when
Bobby was killed and McCarthy collapsed, the Times
hedged its bet on Humphrey by deposing Wicker and
replacing him with Max Frankel, a smooth and ef-
fective diplomat/journalist who could presumably
get along with either Hubert or Nixon. . . . But pot
even Frankel could handle Four More Years, ap-
parently, and the Nixon/Agnew landslide in 1972
forted the admittedly anti-Nixon Timer into a stance
of agonizing reappraisal. Frankel moved up to New
Yaork, and since the most obvious candidates for his
Jjob were relatively liberal young turks like Bob Sem-
ple, Anthony Lewis or Johnny Apple, who were
clearly out of step with the mandate of vengeance
that Nixon claimed by virtue of his shattering victory
over McGovern, the Times t in New
York made a fateful policy decision that would soon
come back to haunt them:

On the theory that the best offense, at that point,
was 8 good defense, they pulled in their editorial
horns for the duration and sent an elderly, conserva-
tive mediccrity named Clifton Daniel down from the
exscutive backwaters of New York to keep the ag-
gressive Washington bureau under control. At
almost the same time, they hired one of Nixon's top
speechwriters, Bill Safire, and gave him a prominent
ranking columnist’s spol on the Timer editorial
pages. Both of these moves were thinly veiled con-
cessions to the prospect of a revenge-hungry Nixon/
Agnew juggernaut that had already telegraphed its
intention ta devote as much of its second (and final)
term epergies to their “enemies™ in the “national
media” as they had already successfully devoted in
the first term to scuttling the U.S. Supreme Court.

It was clearly a management decision, safely
rooted in the Times chncept of itself a1 “a newspaper
of record," not advocacy—and when you're in the
business of recording history, you don't declare war
on the people who're making it. “If you want to get
along. go along.” That is an ancient political axiom
often attributed to Boss Tweed, the legendary “pol”
and brute fixer who many journalists in Washington
insist still sits on the editorial board of The New
York Times.

Which is probably not true, if only because the
Times got burned so badly by going along with
‘Tweed's crude logic in the winter of 1972-73 that
the whole Washington Bursau—except perhaps
Clifton Daniel—is still reeling from the beating they
took from The Washington Post on the Nixon/ Water-
gate story. While the Times was getting down in the
trenches and methodically constructing its own jour-
nalistic version of a Maginot line against the inevita-
ble Nixon/ Agnew offensive, the Posr was working 25
hours a day on a multipronged panzer-style offensive
that would soon become one of the most devastating
scoops in the history of American journalism.

Rather then be cowed by Nixon-and his army of
power-crazed thugs, the Post elected to meet them
head-on, hitting both flanks and the center all at once
—and when the bloody dust began settling, just a few
weeks ago, with both Agnew and Nixon having re-
signed in disgrace, The Washingron Past had unques-
tionably replaced The New York Times as the na-
tion's premiere political newspaper.

XEXK

a happy man

Nixon.
“Yeal,” he said, “I'm not sure what I was think-
ing when I wrote that, but—"
*“No,” I said, “You were right."
Haatlndun&:':ukin;mm

It was one of

November of 72, when Richard Nixon was re-
elected to the White House by the largest margin
of any president since George Washington, There
is no way to erase that ominous fact from the record
books—any more than Nixon will ever be able to
erase from the history books the fact that he was the
first American president to be driven out of the
White House because of sdmittedly criminal be-
havior while in office,

Looking back on that crippled conversation with
Wicker in Miami, it occurs to me that maybe almost
everybody in the country—excepl possibly Wicker—
might have been spared what Gerald Ford called
“pur national nightmare" if Tom had been kept on
as The New York Times Washington bureau chief
in 1968, instead of being converted to a columnist.
‘The social and political pressures of the job would
have driven him half crazy, but his then emerging
sense of outrage at the whole style and content of
the Nixon administration might have been conta-
mmﬂuﬁwmbmthgbmuuwmwnnlmm
aggressive kind of covernge among the Times report-
ers he would have been assigning to look behind
Nixon's facade.

Plan" that amounted to nothing less than the creation
of a White House Gestapo.
AXXX
But the climale of thote years was so grim

tralized T/e New York Times along with all the other
pockets of potential resistance. Nixon had to do
tvalhlng but fall onhi his own mon‘l bcforn anybody
in the Washi ; e
wnnn; m take him on.

Like the black teenage burglars who are terroriz-
ing chic Georgetown these days, Nixon conquered so

around the gas pumps
across the street. We couldn't hear what they were
saying, but the proprietor was waving his arms craz-
ily and screaming at the cops, as if he suspected them
of doing it

Christ, this is wonderful, T thought. If we hit the
bugger again tonight hel go stark raving mad to-
morrow morning when the cops show up . . . which
was true: On the next morning, after three consecu-
tive robberies, the parking lot of that gas station was
like a war zone, but this time the cops showed up
with reinforcements. In addition to the two police
cruisers, the lot filled up with chromeless, dust-cov-
ered Fords and crew-cut men wearing baggy brown
suits and shoes with gum-rubber soles, While some of
them spoke earnestly with the proprietor, others
dusted the doorknobs, window 1atches and the cash
register for fingerprints.

Tt was hard to know, from our window across the
street, if we were watching the FBI, local detectives
or insurance agency investigators at work. . .. But in
any case 1 figured they'd have the whole station
ringed with armed guards for the next few nights,
so we decided to leave well enough alone.

About six in the evening, however, we stopped
there and had the tank filled up with ethyl. There
were about six bony-faced men hanging around the
office, killing the time until dark by studying road
maps and tire-pressure charts. They paid no atten-
tion to us until T tried to put a dime in the Coke
machine.

*“It sin't workin',” one of them said. Hg shuffied
over and pulled the whole front of the machine open,
like a broken refrigerator, and lifted a Coke bottle
out of the circular rack. | gave him the dime and he
dropped it into his pocket.

“What's wrong with the machine™ 1 asked, re-
membering how hard it had been to rip the bastard
open with a crowbar about 12 hours earlier to reach
the money box.

“No concern of yours,” he muttered, lighting up a
Marvel and staring out at the pump where the atten-
dmvnmlﬂu;nhmp fwllcn-do&rbl]llftﬂ
g the oil. “Don't
wm-ry"lunld.“’l‘hm'l wmlom.mmbe.llal
worse off than that there machine before this night's
out tonight.” He nodded. “This time we're ready for
them sonsabitches,”

And they were, I noticed a double-barreled shot-
gun standing in a corner by the rack full of oil cans,
Two big coon hounds were aslecp on the greasy lino-
Teum foar, with their collar chains looped around the
base of the chewing gum machine. I felt a quick flash
of greed as I eyed the glass bulb filled with all those
red, white, blue and green gum balls. We had looted
the place of almost everything else, and I felt a pang
of regret at having to leave the gum machine un-
touched: All those pennies just sitting there with no-
body to fondle them. . . .

But in retrospget 1 think that moment was the be-
ginning of wisdom for me. We had pushed our luck
far enough with that place [Continued on Page 49]
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[Consinued from Page 36] and the world was full of
colorful gum-ball machines. There was a weird and
menacing edge in the man's voice that it took me a
long time to forget.

We drove downtown and cruised around drinking
warm beer for a while, then we robbed o crowded
liquor store on Main Street by starting a fight with the
clerks and then clesning out the cash register while
they struggled to defend themselves.

‘We got less than $200 out of that one, as T recall —
about the same a5 we'd picked up from three hits on
the gas station — and on the way out of town I re-
member thinking that maybe 1 could do something a
little better in this life than robbing gas stations and
liqupr stores. After taking enough crazy risks to put
all three of us ia prison for nt least flve years, we had
about $135 apiece to show for it and about half of
that was already spent on gas, food, beer and hiring
winos to buy whiskey for us because we were too
young to get served and the winos were charging
double for anything they bought for us.

That weekend crime spree in Lexington was my
lnst haul, 85 they say; [ even gave up shoplifting,
which altered my lifestyle pretty scverely for a while
because it had taken me several years to master the
kind of skill und mental attitude it takes to walk into
a jewelry store and come out with six watches, or in
the front door of & tavern and hassle the bartender
‘with a false ID long enough to let & friend slip out the
back door with a case of Old Forester. , . . But when
T quit that gig, T quit it completely; and after 15 years
on the wagon my skills are so hopelessly atrophied
that now | can’t even steal a newspaper from an open
rack on the street,

Ah . . . mother of jabbering god, how in the hell
did T get off on that tangent about teenage street
crime? This is supposed to be n deep and serious
political esssy about Richard Nixon. . . .

Although maybe that wasn't such a tangent, after
all. The original point, I think, had to do with street-
punk mentality that caused Nixon to push his luck so
{ar that it was finally almost impossible nor to get
himself busted. For a while he had the luck and
arrogance of a half-smart amateur. From their bose
in the White House, Nixon snd the L.A. account
execs he brought with him treated the old-line Wash-
ington power structure with the same kind of con-
tempt that young burglars casing Georgetown seem
to have for the forts of the rich and powerful — or
that I had for that poor bastard who owned the gas
station in Lexington,

This is a very hard thing for professional cops,
journalists or investigators to cope with. Like doc-
tors and lawyers, most of the best minds in police
work have been trained since puberty to think in
terms of patterns und precedents: Anything original
tends to have the same kind of effect on their investi-
gative machinery as u casually mutilated punch-card
fed into a computer. The immediate result is chaos
and false conclusions. . . . But both cops and com-
puters are programmed to know when they've been
jammed by a wild card or a joker, and in both cases
there are usually enough competent technicans stand-
ing by to locate the problem and get the hinery
working again pretty quickly.

Right, . , . and now we have gone off an a dan-
gerous compound tangent. And it has mushroomed
into something unmanageable. . . . But before we
zoom off in whatever direction might come next, it
would be unfair not to mention that the Timer was
the first paper to break the Pentagon Papers story, a
command decision that forced Nixon and his would-
be enforcers to come out in the open with fangs
bared, snarling threats to have everybody connected
with the publication of the Pentagon Papers cither
lazhed into jail or subpoensed into so many court-
rooms that all their minds would snap before they
finally wound up in the poorhouse.

As it turned out, h , the Times
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Won't you fly O eagle fiy
You better run little cortontail run
L hope you both live long envugh
To see the setting sun
—Marshall Tucker Band

September 6th, 1974

The headline in today's Warshington Posr says
Richard Nixon is “lonely and depressed” down thers
in his exile hideout in San Clemente. He sucks eggs
for breakfast and wanders back and forth on the
beach; spitting frequently into the surf and brooding
about some vicious Polak whose name he can't re-
member. . . . Some low-life friend of John Connally
from Houston; the same white-haired little bugger
who caused all that trouble with the Supreme Court,
and now he has a runaway Grand Jury full of uppity
niggers who—in Nixon's own words—*“want to pick
the carcass.”

Indeed. . .. What the hell is a carcass good for any-
way, except to pick at? Gnaw the skull, suck the
bones, then soak the bastard with gasoline and toss
a match on it

Jesus! How much mare of this cheapjack bullshit
can we be expected to take from that stupid litle
gunsel? Who gives a fuck if he's lonely and depressed
out there in San Clemente? If there were any such
thing as true justice in this world, his rancid carcass
would be somewhere down around Easter Island
right now, in the belly of a hammerhead shark.

But, no—he is sitting out there in the imitation-
leather-lined study of his oceanside estate, still guard-
ed constantly by a detail of Secret Scrvice agents and
still communicating with the outside world through
an otherwise unemployable $40,000-a-year mouth-
piece named Ron Ziegler . . . and still tantalizing the
national press with the same kind of shrewdly pro-
grammed leaks that served him so well in the last
months of his doomed presidency. . . . L

“He's terribly depressed, with much to be de-
pressed about,” says a friend. “Anvone would be
depressed in his situation. I dan’t mean he's going
off the deep end. 1 just mean that everything hap-
pened to him, seemingly all at once, and he doesnt
know what to do about it.”

Well . . . shucks, I'd be tempted to put my mind
1o the task of helping the poor bastard figure out
“what to do about" this cruel nutcracker that he

how stumb’ed into . . . but I have a powerful

strapped on its collective balls and d that
they were prepared to go to the mat with Nixon on
thut one — & surprisingly tough stance that was al-
most instantly backed up by Influential papers like
the Los Angeles Times, The Warhington Post and the
St. Lowis Post-Dispatch. . . . And the appearance of

that solid front, however shaky, caused serious tur- |

moil in the White House. Spiro Agnew was pried
loose from his kickback racket and sent out on the
stump to stir up the Silent Majority against the “radic-
© liba" and "liberal glitists” of the “exstern media estab-
lishmen!t™ — the “nattering nabobs of negativisnm.™

Jesus! Those were the days, eh?

suspicion that probably that gang of mean niggers in
Washington has already solved Nixon's problem for
him. They are going to indict the bastard and try to
put him on trial.

Nixon knows this. He is not the kind of lawyer
you'd want to hire for anything serious, but the real-
ity of his situation vis-a-vis the Watergate grand jury
is 80 bleak that even ke has to grasp it . . . and this
is the reason, [ think, for the more or less daily
front-page comments on his balf-mad and patheti-
cally crippled mental condition. He has devised an-
other one of his famous fourth-down game breakers
—the same kind of three-fisted brainstorm that cli-

maxed with his decision to defuse the whole im-
peach process by releasing his own version of
“the tapes,” or the time he figured out how to put a
quick lid on the Watergate burglary investigation by
blaming the whole thing on John Dean.

A ding to one Washi psider, widely re-
spected as an unimpeachable source and a shrewd
judge of presidential character: “Dick Nixon is in a
league all by himsell when you're talking about style
and grace under pressure. His instincts when the
crunch comes are absolutely amazing."

Naobody will argue with that—although his strat-
egy since leaving the White House has been marked
by an unnatural focus on subtlety, The savage war-
rior of old now confronts us in the guise of n pitiful,

- frightened old pol—u whipped and broken man, to-

tally at the mercy of his enemies and baffled by the
firestorm of disasters that drove him out of the
House.

Which may even be partinlly true: He will prob-
ably go to his grave believing he was not really guilty
of anything except underestimating the power of his
enemies. . . . But the fact remains that Jaworski will
very likely break the news of Nixon's formal indict-
ment before this article appears on the newsstands,
and when that happens there will be only one man
in the country with the power to atbitrarily short-cir-
cuil the legal machinery that in theory could land
Richard Nixon in the same celiblock with John Dean.

That man is Gerald Ford, but he will have a hard
time justifying a blanket presidential pardon for an
admitted felon without at least the appearance of &
ground swell of public sympathy to back him up.

So we may as well get braced for a daily dose of
extremely grim news out of San Clemente, once
Nixon is formally indicted. We will bear reports that
the ex-president frequently bursts into tears for no
reason at all, that he utters heart-rending screams
every night in his sleep, and the Los Angeles Herald-
Examiner will quote an unnamed “prominent Beverly
Hills psychiatrist" who will describe Nixon as a “piti-
ful basket case™ and “a chronic bedwetter.” And if
Ford still seems reluctant to let Nixon go free, we
will start secing front-page “exclusive photos™ of
Nixon alone on the besch, staring soulfully at the
sunset with tears drooling out of his eyes

It will be u carerully orchestrated public relations
campaign in the elassic Nixon tradition. Ziegler will
hold daily press briefings and read fincly crafted de-
scriptions of the former president’s pitiful condition
from the typewriter of Ray Price, Nixon's former
chief speechwriter at the White House. Both Price
and Pat Buchanan, the left and right forks of Nixon's
tongue ever since he decided to make his move on
the White House back in 1965, showed up at the
San Clemente fortress in early September, bath in-
sisting they had just come out to say hello and "check
up on the old man." As it happened, however, they
bath appeared about the same time rumors
surfacing in New York about a $2-million advance
that Nixon had been offered for his memoirs.

Neither Price nor Buchanan claimed to kpow any-
thing definite about the book offer, but in New York
Spiro Agnew's literary agent was telling everybody
who asked that the Nixon deal could be closed mo-
mentarily for at Jeast $2 million and maybe more.

That is a hell of a lot of maney for amybody's
memoirs—even people who might reasonably be ex-
pected to tell the truth, But even a ridiculously fraud-
ulent version of his five and a half wretched years in
the White House and his own twisted view of the
scandal that finished him-off would be an automatic
hest seller if the book-buying public could be conned
somehow into believing Richard Nixon was actually
the suthor.

Meanwhile, with either Price or Buchanan or both
standing ready to write his memairs for him, Nixon
was pondering an offer from Reader's Digest to sign
on as a “consulting editor” at a salary of $100,000 a
year. , . . And Thursday of that week, President
Ford made headlines by urging the Congress to ap-
sropriate $850,000 to cover Nixon's pension, living
expenses and other costs of the painful tramsition
from the White House to San Clemente. When the
$830,000 runs out, he will have to scrimp until July
Ist of next year, when he will pick up another
$400,000 that will have to last him until July Ist,
1976. For as long as he lives, Richard Nixon will
be on the federal dole for every $400,000 a year—
$60,000 pension, $96,000 to cover his personal staff
saluries, $40,000 for travel, $21,000 to cover his tele-
phone bills and $100,000 for “miscellaneous."

Cont, P, 51
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On top of his $300,000 annual expense account,
Nixon's 24-hour-a<lay Secrel Service protection will
cost the taxpayers between $500 and $1000 a day
for as long as he lives—a conservative figure, con-
sidering the daily cost of things like helicopters, pa-
trol boats, walkie-talkies and car telephones, along
with salaries and living expenses for ten or 12 full-
time agenta. There is also the $40,000 a year Ron
Ziegler still commands, as a ranking public servant.

Bl.nﬂnpruh:mwu:wmﬂmpulllhlm
was building in favor of prosecution of Mr. Nixon,
2 point draniatically corifirmed by a Gallup Poll last
week which showed that 56% of the American peo-
ple thought that Mr. Nixon should be tried while
only 37% opposed such action.

The Washington Post

September Oth, 1974

Add another $30,000 1o $50,000 each for
wides like Stephen Bull and Rose Mary Woods, plus
all their living and travel expenses—and the cost of
maintaining Richard Nixon in exile adds up to some-
thing like $750,000 a year . . , and these are merely
the expenses. His personal income will presumably
derive from things like the $2 million advance on
his memoirs, his $100,000 & year stipend from Rend-
er's Digest, and the $5000 » erack he can average,
with no effort at all, on the yesr-round lecture circuit.

S0. .. what we are Jooking at here is a millionaire
ex-president and ndmilted felon; a congenital thief
and pathological liar who spent 28 years on the pub-
lic sugar tit and then quit just in ime to avoid the
axe. If he had fought to the bitter end, as he'd prom-
ised Julie he would “as long us even one senator
"belicves in me, " he risked losing about 95% of the
$400,000 annual allowance he became qualified for
wunder the “Former Pr&ldenli' Act” by resigning. . .
But a president who gels "mnwctcdmd
dragged out of the White House by U.S. marshals is
not covered by the “Former Presidents’ Act” If
Nixon had fought 1o the end and lost—which had
become absolutely inevitable by the time he resigned
—he would have forfeited all but about $15,000 a
year from the federal dole. . . . So, in retrospect, the
Teason hcqunluumymmulhunumhcnuu
his personal balance sheet, The difference between
resignation and being kicked out of office was about
$385.000 a year for the rest of his life.

Most of this anrual largesse will come, one way or
another, out of the pockets of the taxpayers. All of
\he tanpayers. Even George and Eleanor McGovern
will contribute a slice of their income to Richard
Nixon's retirement fund. . . . And so will 1, unless
Jaworski can nail the hutzrd on enough felony
counts to strip him not only of his right to vote, like
Agnew, but also his key to the back door of the
Federal Treasury—which is not very likely now that
Ford has done everything but announce the date for
when he will grant the pardon.

hxx

The White House announced yesterday a negoti-
ated agreement with Richard M, Nixon under which
the former president and the U.S. government will
have joint custody of White House tapes and presi-
dential documents but with Mr, Nixon determining
who shall have access to them.

In the letter of agreement making him the “sole
legal owner of the papers and tapes until their future
donation to the government,” Mr. Nixon specifically
asserted his Jegal title to “all lterary rights” accom-
panying possession of the materials. Mr, Nixon has
reportedly been told that a book of memoirs would
be worth at least $2 million.

The Washington Post
September 9th, 1974

President Ford virtually made up his mind five
days ago to grant a pardon to tomer—l'mndent Rich-
ard M. Nixon.

On Wednesday, presidential counsel Philip Bu-
chen met with Herbert Miller, Nixon's attorney, at
the White House and disclosed that Ford was con-
sidering executive clamency.

Would Nizon sccept a pardon? Buchen asked.

Miller responded that he did not know, according
to Buchen. But after checking with Nixon by tele-
phone — the ex-president was at his home in San
Clemente, California — Miller reported that a par-
don was acceptable.

With that, the pardon was sct, though Ford was
unable to announce the pardon publicly until yester-
day morning because it took several days to complete
the arrangements,

The Washington Star-News
September 9th, 1974

Only ten days ago, in the first formal press con-
ference of his administration, Mr. Ford had said
that it would be “unwise and untimely™ of him to
make any commitment to a pardon until legal action
was taken.

Nixon’s Place in
istory....The
Mushwit Son-In-Law
and The Last Tape

derous chant of “Four More YEars! Four Monre
Years! Four More YEars!™

1t was bad enough, just listening to that demagogic
swill—but I doubt if there were more than a dozen
people in Miami that week who really understood
what that cheap, demented little fascist punk had in
mind far his Four More Years. It involved the sys-
tematic destruction of everything this country claims
to stand for, except the rights of the rich to put sad-
dles on the backs of the poor and use public funds to
build juils for anybody who complained about it.

“The tip of the iccberg began emerging about six
months after Nixon took his second oath of office,
when Senator Sam Ervin took his initially harmiess-
looking “Watergate Committee” act on national TV.
It didn’t catch on, at first; the networks were deluged
with letters from angry housewives, cursing Ervin
for depriving them of their daily soap operas—but
after two or three weeks the Senate Watergate hear-
ings were the hottest thing on television.

Here, by god, was a real soap opera: tragedy,

hery, weird humar and the constant suspense of

THE EX-PRESIDENT'S GIFTS
To the Editor: {

The letter of Sylvia Wallace (August 23rd), warn-
ing that “we may yet see & Nixon renascent, had :uucd
me such grave that [ i di;
the ineffable wisdom of the I Ching for some clue to
the future of Mr. Nixon. I was unerringly directed to
the Po Hexagram and the learned commentaries
thereon. The book confirmed my worst fears: “ts
strong subject, notwithstanding the altempts sgainst
lnm, survives and acquires fresh vigor. The prople
again cherish their sovereign and the plotters have
wrought to their own overthrow.”

The “legal steps™ that your correspondent suggests
to prevent Nixon's rebirth could prove woefully in-
effective, 1 suggest that, after hanging, the body be
drawn, quartered and burned snd the ashes buried in
an unmarked grave in a distant field guarded by an
elite corps, lest his hard-core followers come and
steal the remains and proclaim: He is risen!

Please! If Mr. Nixon reguins popular favor, it will
not be through any “revisionism” or reworking of
the facts supporting the charges of guilt. It will prob-
lblybelhu coming events will force n careful re-

of “his i to the nation and

crystallize an awareness of the misfortune suffered
by the nation in the loss of his special gifts in these
critical times. We may come to feel like the shepherd
who had no sooner been conned by some pointy-
eared gentleman into getting rid of his mean, tough
sheep dog because of its fleas than the wolves re-
appeared on the scene,
Theoddre P. Daly

Somers, New York

Letters to the Editor

The New York Times
B September 4th, 1974

A promii San Cl 1] of Mr. Nix-
onxlluhewmmCungmulnlM who asked not
to be jdentified, said he had heard that the Lincoln
Club of Orange County, made up largely of wealthy
iudnsh-uhm who contributed millions of dollars to

g coffers, including Mr. Nixon's,
Mdmmdmtmprmdmmbma member
of the select and influential

“Yau won't find Mr. Nixon I.Ivlnlllwlifeoflm-
cluse,” the Republican informant asid, “Now that be
is clear of any criminal prosecution, don't be sur-
prised if he comes back into California politics. 1
think he should. I'd like to see him run for Senator
John V. Tunney's seat in 1976."

The New York Times
September Sth, 1974

We are still too mired in it now to fit all the pieces
together and understand what really happened in
these last two frenzied years .. . or to grasp that the
Real Meaning of what our new president calls the
“national nightmare” and what historians will forever
refer to as “Watergate” will probably emerge not so
much from the day-to-day events of The Crisis, or
even from its traumatic resolution—but more from
what the survivors will eventually understand was
prevented from happening.

never knowing who was lying and who was telling
the truth. , .. Which hardly mattered to the vast
audience of political innocents who soon found
themselves as hooked on the all-duy hearings as
they'd previously been on the soaps and the quiz
shows. Even Hollywood scriptwriters and apolitical
actors were fascinated by the dramatic pace and
structure of the hearings.

The massive mplcmiu uf 1he cvldme. the Taw
drama of the daily and the
ly elfin bumor of ‘SemmrSlm"umalmhcrml
multileveled plot that offered something to almost
everybody—from biceding hearts and Perry Mason
fans to S&M freaks and the millions of closet Hell's
Angels whose sole interest in watching the hearings
was the spectacle of secing once-powerful men
brought weeping to their knees.

XXXX

Consider John Mitchell, for instance—a million-
aire Wall Street lawyer and close [riend of the presi-
dent, an arrogant, triplechinned Roman who was
Nixon's campaign manager in ‘68 and sttorney gen-
eral of the United States for four years until his old
buddy put him in charge of the Committee to Re-
elect the President in 1972. . . . Here was a 61-year-
old man with more money than he could count and so
much power that he suw nothing unusual in treating
the FBI, the Secret Service and every federal judge
in the country like serfs in his privn: police force. ..
who could or even
Air Force One to"take him anywhere he wanted to
go by merely touching a buzzer on his desk. . . .

And suddenly, at the very pinnacle of his power,
he casually puts his initials on a memo proposing one
of at lenat a dozen or so routine election-year bits of
“undercover work"—and several months later while
having breakfast in the Polo Lounge of the Beverly
Hills Hatel, he gets a phone call from some yo-yo
named Liddy, whom he barely knows, saying that
four Cubans be's never even met have just been
uulht In the act of burglnmmz the office of the
located in an office
bnﬂdmgubaul?ﬂﬂymmﬂmphnbehwhh
own balcony in the Watergate apariments. . . .

Which seems like o bad joke, at first, but when
he gets back to Washington and drops by the White
Houuwuuhuoldhuddy he senses that something
is wrong. Both Haldeman and Ehriichman are in the
OvﬂoﬁuwnhNimn' the president greets him with
a nervous smile but the other two say nothing. The
air recks of tension, What the hell is going on here?
Mitchell starts to sit down on the couch and call for
a drink but Nixon culs him off: “We're working on
something, John. I'll call you at home later on, from
a pay phone.”
Mitchell stares at him, then picks up his briefcase
and quickly lly!goodbye.}mml What is this?
On the way out to the limousine in the White House
driveway, he sees Steve Bull's secretary reading a late
edition of The Washington Star-News and idly
snaiches it out of her hands as he walks by. . . . Mo-
‘ments later, as the big Cadillac rolls out into traffic on
Pennsylvania Avenue, he glances at the front page
mdllmnlﬁbynlnwphnmdhnwnl’e'sMis

g a in the bed of their W
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spartment. And next to the photo is a headline saying
something like “Martha on the Rampage Again, De-
nounces ‘Dirty Business' at White House."

“Good God!" he mutters, The Secret Service man
in the front seat glances back at him for a moment,
then looks sway. Mitchell scans the story on Martha:
She has freaked owt again. Where does she keep
getting that goddamn speed? he wonders; her eyes in
1he photo are the size of marbles. According to the
story, she called UPI reporter Helen Thomas at four
in the morning, cursing incoherently about “Mister
President™ and saying she has to get out of Washing-
ton at once, go back to the spartment in New York
for a few days of rest,

Wonderful, Mitchell thinks, The last thing | need
right now is 1o have her screaming around the apart-
ment all night with a bead full of booze and
Mitchell hates speed. In the good old days, Martha
would just drink herself into a stupor and pass out.
- . . But when they moved down to Washington she
began gobbling a pill here and there, just 1o stay
awnke ot parties, and that's when the trouble
started, . . .

Then his eyes shift up to the lead story and he

Nixon, Haldeman, Larry Higby, Steve Bull, Alex
Butterfield and the three Secret Service agents re-
sponsible for keeping it in order. . , . But unofficially
almost everybody with personal access to the Oval
Office had either been told on the sly or knew Rich-
ard Nixon well enough so they didn't need to be told
«+ .+« Im any case, there is enough testimony in the files
of the Senate Watergate committes to sugges! that
mast of them had their own recording systems and
taped most of what they said to each other, anyway,

Neither John Ehrlichman nor Charles Colson, for
instance, were “officially” aware of the stunningty so-
phisticated network of hidden bugs that the Techni-
cal Security Division of the Secret Service had con-

* structed for President Nixon, According to Alex But-

terfield’s testimony in closed hearings before the
House ludiciary Committee, Nixon told Chief 5§
agont Wong to have his electronics experts wire
every roam, desk, lamp, phone and mantelpiece in-
side the White House grounds where The President
was likely ever to utter a word of more than one
syllable on any subject, .

1I've been using tape recorders in all kinds of jour-
nalistic situations for almost ten years, all kinds of

suddenly feels his balls contract viclently 8
straight up into his belly, “WATERGATE BURGLARY
CownecTen To WHITE House,™ says the headline,
and in the first graph of the story be sees the name of
E. Howard Hunt, which he recognizes instantly—
and a few graphs lower, goddamnit, is Gordon Lid-
dy's name.

Nao need to read any further. Suddenly it all makes
sense. He hears himself moan and sees the agent
glance back ut him again, saying nothing. He pulls
the paper up in front of his face, but he is no longer
reading. His finely tuned lawyer's mind is already
racing, flashing back over all the connections: phone
calls to Hunt, arguments with Liddy, secret meetings
in Key Biscayne, Larry O'Brien, Cuban burglars with
CIA conneetions, Howard Hughes. . . .

He in fucked. It has taken less than 30 seconds for
his brain to connect all the details. . . . And yes, of
course, that's what Nixon was talking about with
those bastards, Haldéman-and Ehelichman. They
knew, The president knew. Hunt and Liddy knew.
.« Who else? Dean? Magruder? LaRue? How many
others?

The limousine slows down, making the tumn off
Virginia Avenue and into the Watergate driveway,
Instinctively, he glances up at the fifth floor of the
office building and sees that all the lights are still on
in O'Brien's office. That was where it had happened,
right here in his own goddamn fortress. . . .

His mind is still racing when the agent opens the
door. “Here we are, sir. Your luggage is in the trunk;
we'll bring it right up.™

John Mitchell crawls out of the bright black Cad-
illac limousine and walks like n zombie through the
lobby and into the elevator, Dick will be calling soon,
he thinks. We'll have to sct fast on this goddamn
thing, isolite thase dumb bastards and make sure
they stay isolated.

The elevator stops and they walk down the soft,
red-carpeted hall to hia door. The agent goes in first
to check all the rooms. Mitchell glances down the hall
and sees unother Secret Service man by the door to
the fire exit. He' smiles hello and the agent nods his
head. Jesus Christ! What the hell am I worried about?
We'll have this thing wrapped up and buried by ten
o'clock tomorrow morning. They can't touch me,
goddamnit, They wouldn't dare!

The agent inside the apartment is giving him the
all-clear sign. I put your briefcase on the coffee
table, sir, and your luggage is on the way up, Well
be outside by the elevator if you need anything.”

“Thanks,” Mitchell says. “Tl be fine.” The agent
leaves, closing the door softly behind him. John
Mitchell walks over to the TV console and flips on
the evening news, then pours himself a tall glass of
scotch on the rocks and stretches out on the sofa,
waiching the tube, and waits for Nixon to call—from
4 pay phone. He knows what that means and it has
nothing to do with dimes.

XXX

That was John Mitchell's last peaceful night in
Washington. We will probably never know exactly
what he and Nixon talked about on the telephone,
because he was careful to make the call from one of
the White Housz phones that was not wired into the
tape-recording system. . . . Mitchell had not been
told, officially, about the president’s new tape toy;
the only people who knew sbout it, officially, were

quig ranging from ten-inch studio reels to rai-

sin-sized mini-bugs—but [ have never even seen any-
thing like the system Wong’s Secret Service experts
rigged up for Nixon in the White House. In addition
to dozens of wireless, voice-activated mikes about
the size of a pencil eraser that he had built into the
woodwork, there were also custom-built sensors,
delay mechanisms and “standby™ switches wired in-
to telephones that either Bull or Butterfield could
activate;

In the Cabinet Room, for instance, Nixon had mi-
crophones built into the bases of the wall lamps that
he could turn on or off with harmless-looking buzzers
labeled “Haldeman" and “Butterfield” on the rug
underneath the cabinet table in front of his chair,
The tapes and ing equip were installed in
a locked closet in the basement of the West Wing,
but Nixon could start the reels rolling by simply
pressing on the floor buzer marked “Butterfield™
with the toe of his shoe—and to stop the reels, put-
ﬁnslhemthimblnkcnslmdby.hamﬁdnzp
on'the "Haldeman" button. . . .

Any serious description of Nixon's awesome tape-
recording system would take thousands of words and
boggle the minds of most laymen, but even this quick
capsule is enough to suggest two fairly obvious but
rarely mentioned conclusions: Anybody with thiy
kind of a tape system, installed and maintained 24
hours a dsy by Secret Service electronics experts, is
going to consistently produce extremely high quality
voice reproductions. And since the White House
personnel office can hire the best transcribing typists
available, and provide them with the best tape-tran-
scribing machinery on the market, there is only one
conceivable reason for those thousands of madden-
ing, strategically spotted “unintelligibles” in the Nix-
an version of the White House Tapes. Any Kelly Girl
agency in the country would have given Nixon his
money back if their secretaries had done that kind of
damage to his transcripts. Sloppiness of that magni-
tude can only be deliberate, and Nixon is known to
have persanally edited most of those tape transcripts
before they tvere typed for the printer. . , , Which
doesn't mean much, now that Nixon's version of the
transcripts is no longer potential evidence but slop-
Py artifacts that are no longer even interesting to read

According to Butterfield, Nixon was so obsessed
with recording every move and moment of his presi-
dency for the history books that he often sesmed to
be thinking of nothing else. When he walked from
the White House to his office in the EOB, for in-
stance, he would carry a small tape recorder in front
of his mouth and maintain a steady c with
it as he moved in his stiff-legged way across the lawn.

.. And although we will never hear those tapes, the
mere fact that he was constantly making them, for
reasons of his own, confirms Alex Butterfiell’s obser-
vation that Richard Nixon was so bewitched with
the fact that he really was The President that his only
sense of himself in that job came from the moments
he could somehow record and squirrel away in some
safe place, for tomorrow night or the ages.

There is a bleeding kind of irony in this unnatural
obsession of Nixon's with his place in history when
you realize what must have happened to his mind
when he finally realized, probably sometime in those
last few days of his doomed presidency, just exactly
what kind of place in history was even then being
carved out for him.

In the way it is usually offered, the sleazy little
argument that “Nixon has been punished enough™
is an ignorant, hack politician cliche. . . . Bul that
image of him walking awkward and alone across the
White House lawn at night, oblivious 1o everything
in front or on either side of him except that little
black and silver tape recorder that he is hoiding up
to his fips, talking softly and constantly to “history,"
with the brittle intensity of a madman: When you
think on that image for 4 while, remember that the
name Nixon will scem to give off a strange odor
every time it is mentioned for the next 300 years,
and in every history book written from now on,
“Nixon™ will be synonymous with shame, corruption
and failure.

No other president in American history has been
driven out of the White House in a cloud of disgruce.
No other president has been forced 1o preside over
the degrading collapse of his own administration or
been forced to stand aside and watch helplessly—and
also guiltily—while some of his close friends and
ranking assistants are led off to jail. And finally, no
presideat of the United States has ever been so vul-
nerable to criminal prox ion, so by the
threat of indictment and trial, crouched in the dock
of a federal courtroom and so obviously headed for
prison that only the sudden grant of presidential par-
don from the man he appointed to succeed him
could prevent his final humiliation.

These are the stinking realities that will determine
Richard Nixon's place in American history, . . . And
in this ugly context, the argument that “Richard
Mixon has been punished enough™ takes on a differ-
ent meaning. He will spend many nights by himself
in his study out there in San Clemente, listening over

“and over 1o those tapes he mude for the ages and

half-remembering the feel of thick grass on the Rose
Gurden lawn adding a strange new spring to his walk,
even making him talk a bit-louder as he. makes his
own knotty, plastic kind of love to his sweet little
Japanese bride. telling it over and over again that he
really is The President, The Most Powerful Man in
the World—and goddamnit, you better never for-
get that! g
XXXX

Richard Nixon is free now, He bargained wisely
ond well. His arrangement with Ford has worked
nicely, despite that week or so of bad feeling when
he had 1o get a little rough with Gerry about the par-

from the same tapes. The only people with any rea-
san to worry about either the implications of those
butchered transcripts or the ham-fisted eriminal who
did the final editing job are the editors at'whichever
publishing house decides to pay Richard Nixon $2
million for his presidential memairs, which will be
heavily dependent on that vast haul of Oval Office
tapes that Gerald Ford has just decreed are the per-
sonal property of Richard Nixon. He will have the
final edit on those transcripts, too—just befare he
sends the final draft of his memoirs to the printer.
The finished book will probably sell for $15, and a
Iot of people will be stupid enough to buy it.

The second and more meaningful aspect vis-d-vis
Nixon's tape system has to do with the way he used
it. Most tape freaks see their toys as a means to bug
other people, but Nixon had the SS technicians in-

stall almost ¢very concealed bug in his system with -

a keen eye for its proximity to Richard Nixon,

don, th ing 1o call in the L.A. Times man and
play that quick little tape of their conversation in
the Oval Office—the one where he offered 1o make
Gerry the vice-president, in exchange for a presiden-
tial pardon whenever he asked for it—and he had
known, by then, that he would probably need it u
lot sooner than Gerry realized. Once their arrange-
ment was made (and taped), Nixen just rode for as
long as he could, then got off in time fo sign up for
his lifotime dole as a former president.

_He will rest for u while now, then come back to
haunt us again, His mushwit son-in-law, David Eisen-
hower, is urging him to run for the U.S. Senate from
California in 1976, and Richard Nixon is shameless
enough 1 do it. Or if not in the Senate, he will turn
up somewhere else. The only thing we can be abso-
lutely sure of, at thiy point in time, is thut we are
going to have Richard Milhom Nixon 1o kick around
Tor at leust a little while longer.




